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I nc.
Honor s
1988 W nt hr op- Sears Medal, Chem cal Industry
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1990 John Frtiz Medal, United Engineering Trustees,
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ABSTRACT

Gordon A. Cain begins the interview by discussing his early
i nfl uences fromthe chem cal and engi neering disciplines. He
next recounts his undergraduate education at Louisiana State
University during the Great Depression. He describes his first
jobs in the chem cal industry and his first patents. He
enlisted during World War Il as a captain and served in the
Pacific with an Arny heavy nortar conpany. After the war he
worked in scientific intelligence in Germany. Returning to the
United States, Cain shifted the direction of his career away
from chem cal engineering and into managenent, consulting and
owner shi p of various chenical and high technol ogy concerns.
Cain then discusses his experiences as head of Vista, Cain
Chem cal and the Sterling Goup and the inpact of venture
capital and | everaged buyouts on his career and on the chem cal
i ndustry. He describes his philosophy and standards for running
t hese | arge conpani es, including enpl oyee ownership and the
Dem ng system Cain concludes the interview with a di scussion
of his famly and hobbies and an anal ysis of the changing
busi ness clinmate.

| NTERVI EVEER

James J. Bohning, Assistant Director at the Chem ca
Heri tage Foundation, holds the B.S., MS., and Ph.D. degrees in
chem stry. He was a nenber of the chemi stry faculty at WI kes
University from 1959 until 1990, where he served as chair of the
Chem stry Departnent for sixteen years, and chair of the Earth
and Environnental Sciences Departnent for three years. He was
Chair of the Division of the Hi story of Chem stry of the
Ameri can Chem cal Society in 1986, and has been associated with
t he devel opnent and managenent of the Foundation's oral history
program si nce 1985.
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| NTERVI EV\EE: Gordon A. Cain

| NTERVI EVEER: James J. Bohning

LOCATI ON: Houst on, Texas

DATE: 18 February 1992

BOHNING | know that you were born on May 31st, 1912 in Baton

Rouge. Could you tell ne sonething about your parents and your
fam |y background?

CAIN. Yes. M parents were both from Loui siana. M father
attended Loui siana State University. He intended to becone a
doctor, but the boll weevil, an insect that destroyed the cotton
crop back in the early 1900s, broke his father who had three
children in the university at one tine. M father, instead of
going to nedical school, got a degree in chem stry.

He taught chem stry in high school for one year and then
becane a chem st for the state departnent of agriculture. This
was | argely analytical work on fertilizer and things |ike that.
After four or five years he decided it was too confining and
becane director of a state experinental farm Later he becane
what is called a County Agricultural Agent, which involved
teaching farmers to farm

My not her al so graduated from Loui siana State University.
O course, there was never any question about where | would go

to school. | was obviously going to go to LSU. The question
was what would | study. | nmade this decision in the m ddle of
the Depression. | graduated from high school in 1928, and,

al though officially people think about the crash starting in
1929, actually, in the cotton growing country it started severa

years before that. | decided early in the ganme that | wanted to
study sonme form of science or engineering. | was good in math,
and | liked the imted anmount of science | had in high school.

I found sonething that said that chem cal engineers earned nore
noney getting out of school than any other branch of engi neering
or science. That's how | becane a chem cal engineer instead of
an el ectrical engineer or a physicist or sonmething el se. At
that point I'd never seen a chem cal engineer in ny life, and |
didn't really know what one did.

BOHNI NG  What was your father's nane?



CAIN.  Hi s nane was CGordon al so, but we have different m ddle
initials. H s was Gordon D. Cain, and m ne's CGordon A.

BOHNING Did he have any influence in your decision to pursue
chem stry since he hinself was a chem st?

CAIN. Possibly. I1'msure the fact that he was a chenm st was an
influence on nme. As | said, | had never seen a chem cal

engi neer up to that point. The closest |I'd cone was a man in ny
honme town, it was a small cotton farm ng town, who was what was
then called a sugar engineer. He worked in the sugar mlls in
Loui si ana from Sept enber to Decenber or January, then went to
Latin America and worked until June or July, and then cane hone
and had a two or three nonth vacation. | thought at the tine
that that was a great way to work. That was the closest to

chem cal engineering | cane.

For a long tinme, the Audubon Sugar School at LSU provided a
hi gh percentage of all of the technol ogists for the sugar
i ndustry all over the world. A few years before | went to
col | ege, the Audubon Sugar School was converted to the
department of chem cal engi neering at LSU.

BOHNI NG  What year did you start at LSU?

CAIN. | started in 1929. | worked a year between high schoo
and college as a clerk on the Mssouri-Pacific Railroad. | was
just sixteen when | graduated, so | worked for a year and got
noney to go to coll ege.

BOHNI NG  Where did you grow up? |In Baton Rouge? You said a
smal | town.

CAIN. No, | grewup in tw small towns in Louisiana. One was
Cal houn, where the experinental farmwas | ocated, in north
Loui siana. The rest of the tinme was in Rayville, which is in
t he northeast corner of Louisiana in the flat, rich M ssissipp
Delta land, largely a cotton farm ng area.

BOHNI NG What was it like growng up there as a child?

CAIN. | doubt if it was nmuch different from grow ng up anywhere
el se at that particular tine. O course, | don't renenber
t hi nki ng about any of the problens that are current today.
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Drugs were just a word. There was an occasi onal town drunk, but
al cohol wasn't a significant problem Crine was so rare that
you tal ked about it for days and days afterward. | grew up
pretty nmuch the sane way any small town person did in the 1920s.

BOHNING It strikes ne as being sonewhat unusual for the period
t hat both your parents were coll ege graduates.

CAIN.  Yes, it was. M grandparents were not coll ege graduates,
but they were both very well-read people. They knew Latin and
G eek, as did ny father, and he | earned at honme, not at coll ege.
There was a tinme in that part of the world when nen of their
background knew Latin and G eek. | think they |earned from
tutors. | renenber that ny father's father was a very well -read
man, but he never had any hi gher | earning.

BOHNING Had his famly been in Louisiana a long tinme?

CAIN. Yes. M ancestry is alnost entirely Scotch-English and
what is sonmetines called Scotch-lIrish. That is, Scots who went
to Ireland and stayed a few generations and then imnmgrated to
this country. The area where they lived is what is now the
north of Ireland. For the nost part they immgrated to this
country in the 1700s, settled in the Carolinas and then slowy
wor ked their way west and sout hwest.

BOHNI NG As you said, the Depression had started earlier in the
cotton country, so it happened before you started coll ege.

CAIN: That's right. | was there during the Depression. It
cost nme a maxi mrum of five hundred dollars a year, tota
expenses, to go to school. | made part of that in the
sumertinme and part of it working, part of it ny famly gave ne
and part of it I borrowed. | was a typical Depression student.

BOHNING | inmagine there nust have been a nunber of people who
couldn't finish going to college at that tine.

CAIN. There were, and there were a nunber of them who woul d
drop out for a senester and cone back. Very few of the nmen |
graduated with, probably less than half of them had gone

t hrough four straight years as | did. Mny of them had started
two or three years before and dropped out for a senester to
work. Included in them were a nunber of people who had
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graduated as chenmi sts earlier and cane back to take chem ca
engi neering. Many of these were these sugar people who'd gone
out as sugar chem sts. The sugar industry went to hell about
that tine, so a least a third of ny classmtes were peopl e who
had worked in sugar and had cone back to take chem ca

engi neeri ng.

BOHNI NG What was your reaction when you got there? You said
you had never seen a chem cal engineer, yet there you were in a
chem cal engineering curricul um

CAIN. [laughs] | know. Well, the first thing | saw was a
denmonstration sugar mll on the canpus. Since it was the fall,
it was operating. This was ny first sight of any sort of

chem cal process--the grinding of sugar cane and the conversion
to sugar. During ny first year, | went out to a real sugar

mll. | couldn't understand the place of a chem cal engineer in
the thing because it was about as unscientific an operation as
you can inmagine. There was an old Cajun with a kerosene | antern
and a glass slide, and he would pull sanples out of the
evaporator to see if the crystals were form ng properly. He and

his lantern were the sole control. |If you ran the evaporator
i nproperly you coul d make the sugar into syrup and get no
crystals at all. He, with his kerosene |lantern and his gl ass

slides, controlled what sort of sugar this ml|l nmade. [|aughter]

BOHNING That's interesting. There are a couple things | want
to ask you about the LSU departnent. Was chemi cal engineering a
separate departnent fromchem stry?

CAIN: Yes. It was a separate departnment. At that point, it
was half in the engineering school and half in the school of
applied science. It was a hybrid operation. The chem stry

faculty had nore influence in the chem cal engineering school
than the engineering faculty, largely because of Dean [Charles
E.] Coates, who had been dean of the sugar school for thirty or
forty years and pretty nmuch dom nated the chem cal engineering
depart nent.

BOHNING In 1929 chem cal engineering was still a young
discipline. It had only been a real, separate discipline for
maybe ten or twenty years.

CAIN.  Yes, | know. O course, we started out with the Wl ker,
Lewis and McAdans text (1) that | think every chem cal engineer
at least at that point, started wth.



BOHNI NG What was your curriculumlike at the beginning?

CAIN: As | remenber, all the engineers took the same thing for
the first year. There were mnor variations the second year.
In conmparison with the current chem cal engineering curricul um

ours was much nore heavily chemcal. | took quantitative and
qgual itative analysis, which I don't think chem cal engineers
take anynore. | took two years of organic chem stry.

BOHNI NG Www

CAIN:. And | took a year of physical chemstry. | think |I even
took a second year of physical chem stry. Even at the tinme, it
was nore heavily chem cal than average, and certainly nmuch nore
heavily chem cally oriented than the current curriculum |
graduated in 1933 right after the bank holiday. Al the banks
were closed for anywhere froma week to two or three nonths, and
some of themforever. | lived ny last few nonths in college on
cafeteria meal checks. Nobody had any noney. The university
et us sign for neal tickets in the cafeteria, and these becane
t he nmedi um of exchange for the canpus and even the busi nesses
around the canmpus. Everybody finished credit using these
cafeteria meal checks to live on

BOHNI NG Can you tell nme sonething about some of the faculty
t her e?

CAIN.  Yes. The dom nant nenber of the faculty was Professor
Charl es Coates, who at that tine was probably past retirenent
age. | would guess that when | graduated he nust have been
seventy-three or seventy-four. Maybe even a little older. He
had run this Audubon Sugar School for a long, long tine, and was
a recogni zed figure in the sugar chem stry business. As for the
rest of the chemcal faculty, | renmenber Dr. [R L.] Menville,
who was an inorganic chem stry professor. Arthur Chopin was a
physical chem stry teacher. There was only one chemni cal

engi neeri ng professor, Paul Horton. He didn't have any

assi stant professors. He had graduate assistants who coul d
grade papers, but that was it. He was very aloof with his
students, but after | graduated | becane very fond of him |
think he felt some need to maintain distance with his students,
but once you graduated you were in a different category.

In my graduating class there were only thirteen chem cal
engi neers. This was the Depression, and not a single corporate
recruiter showed up on the canpus that year for any of the
engi neeri ng schools. None of ny classmates had prof essi onal
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jobs. Some of the petroleum engineers got |abor jobs in the oi
fields. Sone of the chem cal engineers got jobs as sanpl e boys
in the refineries where they rode around on a bicycle and

coll ected sanples fromtanks.

| didn't have a job when | graduated. | had a fell owship
to go back to school, but | didn't particularly want to go. The
i dea of going to graduate school was attractive, and | think I
woul d have liked it and been very happy at it, but | had been
going to school and working part-time and borrow ng noney. |
was in debt. | had two brothers in the university at that tine,
and | couldn't take any nore noney fromny parents with them
having two nore in college. | had a great desire to go to work,
but I couldn't find a job. A week before | was to go back to
the university to take ny graduate fellowship, | heard of a man
who had graduated a few years before | did and whom | knew j ust
slightly. He had a job and wanted to go to graduate school. |
went to see himat his job, and we went to see his boss and got
t he dean of the college on the tel ephone, and we nmade a trade.
We traded ny fellowship for his job. [laughter] He wouldn't
give up the job until he was sure he could get the fellowship,

and I wouldn't give up the fellowship until I was sure | could
get the job. It was a lousy job, but it paid reasonably well
for that tine. It was working in a big central steam generating

station, a power station.

BOHNI NG  That's Loui si ana Power and Li ght Conpany.

CAIN:. Right. | was a conbination boiler feed-water, chem st,

i nstrunent mechanic, and efficiency calculator. It said | was
an engi neer, but | spent nore tine in work clothes than | did in
white shirts. It was the kind of job in which you woul dn't want
to stay any |onger than necessary. It took nme two years to find
anot her job, which was with the Freeport Sul phur Conpany.

BOHNING I n your LSU training, what kind of |aboratory
facilities did they have? Did you have nuch practica
experience that you could use later?

CAIN. Probably nore than average because of the sugar mll,

whi ch was rmuch nore than a pilot plant. It had all full-scale
equi pnent. The agricultural experinmental station there was
rai sing enough sugar cane to run the mll, so we ran this sugar

mll every fall for two or three nonths. That was the only
practical experience we had. The students ran it conpletely, so
we got real hands-on experience.



Bat on Rouge, for its tine, had nore chem cal industry
around it than many places. There was a big Standard G| of
Loui si ana, now Exxon, refinery there and a nunber of satellite
sulfuric acid plants and things |ike that around it. There was
nore opportunity for field trips than many pl aces.

BOHNING Did you feel confortable in your selection of chemca
engi neering as you went through LSU?

CAIN: Yes, | did. 1 was happy with the sel ection.

BOHNI NG You said you spent those two years at the power
conmpany sort of biding your tine because you had an inconme. How
did you make your connection with Freeport Sul phur?

CAIN. One of ny classnmates went to work there. He got a job a
few nonths after | did. He called nme and told ne that if |
showed up he was sure that they would hire me, and | did and
they did. | drove down to Freeport, Texas, and went to work for
the Freeport Sul phur Conpany.

This turned out to be a very good experience. It was a
good conpany and its people were honorabl e and good peopl e.
There were a nunber of things going on. | spent six very

pl easant and worthwhil e years at Freeport from 1935 to 1941. At
first 1 was involved in operations. W started sonething that
woul d be mandatory now, which is the re-use of the bleed water
that cane fromthe formation. After you put hot water down to
nmelt the sulfur, the water has to go sonmewhere, and at that
point it was going out into the local prairie. Not because of
any environnmental reasons but to re-use the heat, we devel oped
techni ques for re-using the water.

Freeport was involved in a nanganese operation in Cuba, and
I went down to Cuba and spent nearly a year working on a
flotation process to beneficiate manganese. Between mny junior
and senior years | had been to a ROIC canp up in Edgewood
Arsenal, Maryland. This was the first tinme |I'd been nore than a
hundred mles away fromthe | ower M ssissippi River. The idea
of going to a place like Cuba for a year was fascinating. | had
a great time there, working on developing this flotation process
to recover manganese.

BOHAHNING What was it like in Cuba at that tine?



CAIN. This was in 1938. Cuba was a very pleasant place. W
were about fifteen or twenty mles north of Santiago. W were a
group of maybe ten Anericans, and there were probably not nore
than twenty Anericans in the whole section around there. |
joined a golf club, and | joined the beach club in Santiago. |
had a great tine there. The Cubans were very friendly, and |
had t he unusual experience for a young nan of that tinme of
having dates with a duefia al ong, where an old aunt or sonmebody
canme al ong whenever you took a girl anywhere. [l aughter]

BOHNI NG  Were you paid Anerican wages?

CAIN: Yes. Financially | did quite well. W lived in a mning
canp, and it didn't cost us nuch to live. Wen | cane back
went prospecting for nolybdenumin Nevada in the north end of
Death Valley. That was interesting, too, because our
headquarters was the town of CGoldfield, which had severa
distinctions. In the early 1900s it had thirty thousand peopl e
and street cars and stock exchanges. At this point it had a
popul ation of sixty. It has a black mark in [abor history
because it was one of the places where President Roosevelt used
federal troops to break a strike. The strike was over a very
interesting issue that doesn't cone up anynore. That was

whet her the mners had to change clothes after they cane off
shift or not, because the customwas to fill their boots with
hi gh grade gold dust and carry it out. They tried to inpose a
cl ot hes changing policy, and that caused a strike. It was an
interesting place to live and an interesting experience.

[END OF TAPE, SIDE 1]

BOHNI NG Freeport Sul phur was involved in nore than just
sul fur?

CAIN. Yes. They had aspirations to be a m ning conpany, and
they were in the nmanganese m ni ng business in Cuba. They wanted
to devel op other m ning operations, but the manganese was the
only one that was successful. W were taking sanples on a big
nol ybdenum prospect in the north end of Death Valley in a place
called Alum Gul ch. There was a big exposed cliff about a

t housand feet high and maybe a mle or two across, and it was

al nost pure nol ybdenite on the surface. W thought there nust
be trenendous anounts behind that, but we took sanples fromthe
top and drove tunnels in the side. Cbviously what had happened
was that all the nolybdenumthat had ever been there had | eeched
out and deposited on the surface. It had a tremendous deposit,
a thousand feet by a couple of mles and an eighth of an inch
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thick. The prospects were so intriguing that we spent a | ot of
nmoney and tine onit. For me it was a great experience and a
great tine.

BOHNI NG  Who were sone of the people you were working with at
that tine?

CAIN: Mst of them have gone on to other things. One was a
geol ogi st naned Ral ph Tayl or who subsequently worked and | think
eventually retired as the geol ogi st with Exxon in charge of
their non-oil geol ogical things. Exxon went through a phase of
wanting to get into m ning.

BOHNI NG  There was a m xture of backgrounds.

CAIN. Yes. The others were mning engineers, and | was the
chem st and did all the sanpling and that kind of thing.

BOHNI NG When did you cone back from Nevada?

CAIN. M recollection is that | spent 1938 in Cuba, 1940 in
Nevada, and | canme back from Nevada in late 1940. | attended an
Al ChE [ Arerican Institute of Chem cal Engineers] neeting in New
Ol eans probably in January of 1941, and at a |luncheon | sat

next to a man who was director of engineering for Merck. At
that point | had had very interesting assignnents, but it |ooked
like I was going to get stuck back in Freeport on sone fairly
routine job. He asked me if | wanted to cone and work at Merck
in engineering. At that point, the fortification of flour and
bread with vitamns had just been authorized. The sulfa drugs
were comng in, and the war was going on in Europe. Merck was
buil ding sulfa drug and synthetic vitamn plants as fast as they
coul d.

I went to Merck as a project engineer. | built three or
four nicotinic acid plants and several sulfa drug plants.
Toward the end of ny stay at Merck, Merck got involved in
penicillin, and one of Dr. [Al exander] Flem ng's assistants, Dr.
[ Norman] Heatley, canme to Merck. He was a rather shy bachel or
in a strange town, and we had apartnents in the same buil ding.

BOHNI NG  This was in Rahway.



CAIN. In Rahway. He brought the technol ogy for making

penicillin. Just before | left Merck, they were grow ng
penicillin in flasks and extracting it in the |aboratory. |
designed a four-inch pyrex colum to extract penicillin fromthe
| aboratory flasks. It made about a dose of penicillin an hour.
That was part of the beginning of penicillin.

At that point the war was going on. | had gone to an ROTC
school. Merck woul d have kept me out, but this was the biggest
thing that was going to happen in ny lifetinme and I wanted to be
init. | went inthe Arny on St. Patrick's Day 1942.

BOHANI NG You enlisted?

CAIN. No, | was called as a reserve captain. | went to an

of ficer's pool outside of Washington, and | sat around for about
two weeks. People would cone in and interview ne to see if they
wanted me to work in their nunition plant or their chem ca
warfare plant or whatever. Mst of themwere people | didn't
want to work for, so I successfully discouraged all of themfrom
taking ne. Apparently there was a rule that if you weren't
chosen in two weeks you got shipped out, and | got shipped to
Panama. In Panama, it |ooked like I was going to get sone sort
of supply job, which | did not want. | heard of a job that was
open, and | asked for it, which is contrary to the normal Arny
procedure. The job was conmandi ng officer of an old regular
Arny heavy nortar conpany. |In the ROIC, | had been in the
infantry, but sonetinme just before ny junior year it was deci ded
that any chem cal engineer in the ROTC could transfer to the
Chem cal Warfare Service. You went to an ROTC canmp in Maryl and
bet ween your junior and senior years. This was how | made ny
first trip to New York. | joined the Chem cal Warfare Service
to get this trip to the East Coast.

The Chem cal Warfare Service had devel oped a nortar which

was a high angle-of-fire artillery weapon. It was nuch nore
accurate than any other nortar. It shot about a forty pound
shell. It had been originally devel oped to shoot white

phosphorous, and it had been converted to an infantry weapon.

This was an old regular Arny conpany, and | becane
commandi ng officer and the first non-regular Arny officer the
men had ever seen. The youngest man in the unit was on his
second enlistrment. Sone of them had twenty-five or thirty years
service. It was an interesting experience to take over a unit
like that, and | had to learn fast. W stayed there a year, and
in the course of this, as a sideline job we installed a snoke
screen around the canal. Then we cane back to the States and
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were expanded into a battalion. W got a thousand draftees off
the train on Labor Day in 1943 and trained that winter. | went
to the Pacific and spent the rest of the war in the Pacific.

BOHNI NG  Whiere in the Pacific were you?

CAIN.  Well, we landed first in Hawaii. Then the battalion was
br oken up, and different parts of it went to different places.
They went to Sai pan, Guam and Peliliu. Then we got back

together on Leyte. Then we |anded on Ckinawa. After the
ki nawa | andi ng, we had conme back to Leyte and had al ready
| oaded on ship to land in Japan when the war was over.

BOHNI NG  You were really in the thick of things for a nunber of
years.

CAIN. Yes, | was. For a couple of years | was in pretty nuch
the thick of things. W landed about thirty or forty m nutes
after anybody | anded, and gave cl ose support to the infantry.

We could get our nortars ashore nore easily and quickly than you
could get artillery ashore.

BOHNI NG  Any particul ar experiences fromthose tw years?

CAIN. OCh, well, you have |ots of experiences.

BOHNING | can inmagine.

CAI'N:  Yes.

BOHNING | wanted to go back a little bit to the time just
before you went to Merck. | found two things from 1939, one a

publication you had, and another a patent with [John B.]
Chat el ai n.

CAIN. Chatel ain, yes.

BOHNI NG | was curious about the one publication in Chem cal and

Met al | ur gi cal Engi neering about |ow capacity sulfur burners (2).
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CAIN. | invented a sulfur burner. There was a need at that
point for a sulfur burner that you could control. There were
lots of sulfur burners, but there was very little control of the
burning rate. The particular need for which | built this burner
was in water treating. |In this particular case, the water was
too alkaline. W had to acidify it. | had the idea that we
woul d burn sul fur and absorb the SO, in the water instead of
using sulfuric acid. This acidified the water and al so renoved
oxygen. It was a great idea. | designed this burner where the
amount of sulfur you burned was determ ned by the anount of air
you put init. By changing the air flow the amount of sulfur
bur ned was changed.

There were several interesting applications. | went to the
sewage departnment at Phoeni x, Arizona and hel ped theminstall a
burner. But the nost interesting one was sone guy who was
devel oping and printing all the films for the studios in
Hol | ywood. He had trouble getting sodiumthiosulfate, and he
deci ded he wanted to nmake sodiumthiosulfate. | devel oped a
burner so he could make sodiumthiosulfate. | think he nmade it
maybe for a few years, and then soneone started making it for
him At that particular point he was having great trouble
getting sodiumthiosul fate, which was one of the required
reagents for developing film This was ny one Hol |l ywood
experience. | renmenber that he took nme to the second night of
some big fil m opening.

BOHNING Real ly?

CAIN. Not the opening night but the second or third night of
something Ii ke Gone Wth the W nd.

Years later | was in India on a trip connected with Petro-
Tex, and there was a sugar mll where they were using one of ny
burners up in northern India within sight of the Hi nal ayas.

BOHNI NG  Oh, ny goodness!

Who was Chat el ai n?

CAIN. He was the classmate at LSU who had gotten ne to cone to
Freeport. The last time | heard of himhe was in ill health
sonewhere in south Louisiana.

BOHNI NG The patent is titled "Liquid m xture suitable for use
indrilling wells"™ (3).
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CAIN: | have al nost forgotten what that was.

BOHNING The only note | have is that it is a drilling fluid
that contains nolten sul fur and Thi okol .

CAI N: Yes. This turned out to be interesting for different
reasons. At that particular point in the oil drilling business
they were having trouble with sonething called heaving shal e,

whi ch was a shale formation which swelled when water hit it
underground. There was a need for an anhydrous drilling fluid,
and there were a |l ot of people trying to use oil-based drilling
fluids. They could never get them anhydrous enough so that the
formations didn't swell and close the hole when you drilled into
the shale. Do you know anything about drilling oil wells?

BOHNING Just a little bit.

CAIN.  You have a bit, but the drilling is really done by nud
that is circulated through the bit and carries the cuttings up
out of the hole. The nud has several functions. It cools and
| ubricates, but it also builds up a coat on the side of the
hole. It hel ps keep the hole open. They were running into

pl aces where they had this anhydrous shale that would swell and
cl ose the hole when water hit it. The idea was to use nolten
sulfur as a drilling fluid. Qher people had tried this, but
nol ten sul fur has very peculiar thermal characteristics. It is
very fluid at the nelting point, but if you heat it nmuch past
the nelting point it gets very viscous. |If you heat it hot
enough to keep it fromcooling off, it is too viscous to punp.

| devel oped a Thi okol -type material to go in the sulfur to
reduce the viscosity at this high tenperature. W drilled one
well with it, maybe two. | think about that tinme sonmebody
devel oped better ways to handle this shale problem W didn't
revol utionize drilling.

BOHNI NG Your experiences with Freeport Sul phur up to this
point were quite varied. How did you get these different
assignments? Did you select sonme of then?

CAIN. First, | did select sone of them Second, | was single,
and nost of ny contenporaries were married. Sonehow, if you're
single and willing to go, and there are married guys who don't
want to go to Cuba for a year, you collect those assignnents. |
wanted to and was free to do it.
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BOHNING It nust have been quite a change going to Merck, where
now you're in plant design.

CAIN. Yes, it was. It was a very interesting change because
nobody was interested in anything at Merck except getting these
things built as fast as they could. | don't remenber making a
cost estimate. | can renenber being under lots of pressure
about time schedul es, but nobody worried about noney. You had a
free hand to do al nost anything you wanted to as | ong as you got
the plants built and made themrun. It was a conpletely

di fferent experience. W worked |ong hours because there was a
| ot of pressure to get things done there. Merck is a great
conpany, and it was a good conpany then. This part of Merck was
run al nost entirely by scientists. The research people really
dom nat ed, and they had sone very fine research people.

BOHNI NG How did Merck react to your wishing to join the
mlitary instead of staying there?

CAIN: They objected a little bit, but when it was apparent that
| really wanted to do it, they quit. W negotiated a tine for
me to | eave. They arranged with the Arny for nme to stay until |
fini shed whatever I was working on, and | left after that.

BOHNING You didn't |eave the mlitary until 1946. 1s that
correct?

CAIN: That is when | officially left. | had been overseas nost
of the tinme, and | had lots of accunulated |leave. | really left
the mlitary around Novenber of 1945. | landed in San Franci sco
and decided | wanted to get ny career plans settled before |
took any vacation. | came to New York, tal ked to Merck, and
what ever they offered didn't seemvery exciting. Freeport, at
that point, professed to want to make a nmj or expansion. They
wanted to go into the petrochem cal business. | went to work
for themwith the idea of getting theminto sone maj or expansion
of their business, very likely in petrochem cal s.

BOHNING By this tinme Dow had already had its Freeport
facilities.

CAIN. Yes. Dows original start was in magnesium In fact,
the day | left Freeport to go to work for Merck was the day Dow
produced the first magnesium | was in the |ocal cafe eating
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breakfast in preparation for |eaving when two or three Dow
peopl e brought in the first ingot of magnesiumto show all the
| ocal people. Dow s petrochemi cal activities canme later in the
war .

BOHNI NG Yes, because they were producing styrene there during
the war. | think their first big facility there was the
styrene.

CAI N: Yes.

BOHNING By the tinme you returned, Dow was a principle force in
Freeport.

CAIN. OCh yes, they were. | didn't cone back to Freeport,
came back and went to work in New York.

BOHNING | see. \What were your first responsibilities with
t hem when you went to New York?

CAIN. M first responsibility was to find expansion
opportunities for them Somewhere in the Freeport files you can
find reports of mne recomendi ng that they do al nost everything
t hat has been done on the Gulf by Carbide or Monsanto. The
problemw th Freeport was that the sul fur business was so good
that nothing el se | ooked good in conparison. M series of good
i deas didn't | ook good conmpared to what they were doing. One of
the first things | did, or close to the first, was to go to
Germany on one of these C 1.0 S. [Conbined Intelligence

(bj ectives Subcomm ttee] mssions to Germany. | spent five or
six nmonths in Germany on one of the technical m ssions.

BOHNI NG  This woul d have been 1945, right when the war ended.

CAIN. 1946. Germany was in terrible shape. Do you know Peter
Spitz?

BOHNI NG Yes.

CAIN: Peter's witten a book (4) which includes sone of this.
There were two things that mght be interesting. One was
something called the strategi c bonmbi ng survey. Have you run
across that?
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BOHNING | think |I've heard the nane.

CAIN:. Right after the war, a group of Anmerican engi neers and
techni ci ans was sent over to see what danage had been done by
strategi c bonbing. This included a nunber of people that you

m ght want to talk to, except that 1've forgotten who they were.
They were wel | -known engi neers and technicians. Probably as a
result of that, there was sonething called F.1.AT. [Field

Informati on Agency, Technical]. It was an agency that was set
up to study German industry to see what things they had that
woul d be useful to us. It was headquartered where Hoechst is

headquartered, near Giesheim

This was a sem -mlitary operation. W wore unifornms with
a patch that said "Scientific Consultant” but no officer's
insignia. We were treated like officers. Wen we traveled we
l[ived in Arnmy officers' quarters. W traveled in transportation
provided by the notor pools, and we had to wite reports on what
we did. | was interested in two things--acetyl ene from net hane
and sul fur processes generally. A DuPont director of the
Jackson Lab, Nick [Albert S.] Carter, and | spent a lot of tine
studyi ng the Sachsse process for converting nethane to
acetylene. This is pretty nuch the process Tenneco and Monsanto
used and abandoned, where you have a furnace in which you heat
nmet hane and convert part of it into acetyl ene.

[END OF TAPE, SIDE 2]

CAIN. At that point the Gernmans were in terrible shape.
Cigarettes were the nedi um of exchange. Cigarettes, which now
are regarded as poison, were |like gold. | didn't snoke, but |
got rations of cigarettes, just as the officers did. Wen you
visited sonme German chem st or plant nmanager, you woul d take a
package of cigarettes and just casually leave them It would
have of fended himto give themto him but everybody understood.
You woul d just casually |eave your cigarettes. W were also
forbidden to eat on the German econony. In Germany at that tine
they had in the plants what they called casinos. W would call

t hem enpl oyee clubs, sort of a conbination eating and recreation
facility that woul d have included executive dining roons. | sat
in executive dining roonms in Ludw gshafen, Hoechst and ot her
places with a waiter waiting on ne to eat a sandw ch prepared at
the last officers' club or a K-ration. W couldn't eat in their
pl aces.

BOHNI NG  How receptive were the Germans to your visiting thenf
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CAIN. N nety percent of themwere very receptive. The only one
that | renmenber that was not at all receptive was Dr. [Hans]
Sachsse who was the inventor of this nmethane to acetyl ene
process. He was very difficult. W were in the French
occupation zone. Sonmewhat to ny surprise, the French behaved as
t hough they were still afraid of the Gernmans. |In the Anmerican
and British occupation zones, if there was any trouble at al
they would call the guy in and read the riot act to him But
the French were very reluctant to do that sort of thing. W
must have spent about a nonth with Dr. Sachsse spread over two
or three nonths. About every week or so we would have to
persuade the French to give Dr. Sachsse hell to get himto
cooperate because he wouldn't do anything that he didn't have to
do. Oher than that, nost of themwere very nice and very easy
to get along with. Interestingly enough, a nunber of these I

G Farben research people had worked in Baton Rouge. Standard
Ol of New Jersey had had a joint project with I. G on
petrochem cals, and a |lot of the original work on making

acetyl ene out of methane started in Baton Rouge in this joint
agreenent. | nmet at least three or four of the people who had
wor ked i n Baton Rouge.

BOHNI NG You nentioned Carter from DuPont. Wre there any
others in your group?

CAIN. There were no others in my group, but there were |ots of
others there at the tine. There was a Karl Kamrerneyer who

| at er becane head of chem cal engineering at the University of
| owa.

BOHNI NG  How were you selected to participate in this?

CAIN. I"mnot sure. | think it was because Freeport wanted
sonebody to go. | renenber Air Products had a big group over

t here, because the Germans nust have done sone interesting
things on air separation. There were a nunber of Kell ogg people
over there. |'ve forgotten who Kanmerneyer was working for, but
everybody was on a different routine. W lived in a German spa
at Bad Honburg outside of Frankfurt, and operated out of this
old I. G headquarters in the suburbs of Frankfurt. W were
free to do whatever we wanted to. | had a lot of interesting
experi ences.

Alot of the I. G records had been gathered up, and sone
had been carried to Gieshei moutside of Frankfurt. | went
t hrough t hose once | ooking for sonething, and in the course of
it I ran across correspondence between Anmerican conpany
of ficials whose nanmes | recogni zed but didn't know, who had, in
the spirit of the time, signed letters "Heil Hitler." They
woul d have been crucified had those things ever turned up.
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Wiile | was in Berlin sonebody in the mlitary governnment
said, "W have a job we'd |ike you to do. It would only take a
week or so." | got perm ssion fromFreeport to do it. The job
was to join a quatrepartite team of Anericans, British, French
and Russians to inplenent the provisions of the Potsdam
agreenent. Part of the Potsdam agreenent was that after the war
Germany woul d be reduced to the industrial capacity they had in
1938. | don't think nmany people know this. They were setting
up teans to go around and determ ne what the capacity of the
di fferent German production units were in order to determ ne
whi ch woul d be destroyed and which would be left in order to
nmeet the 1938 requirenents. This particular team was bei ng set
up to look at sulfuric acid and fertilizer. Because of the
sul fur business, | had a fair acquaintance with both of them
and | was to be the Anmerican representative on this team The
first thing | did was to ask, "What is our policy? The capacity
of a plant that has been damaged can be al nost anything you want
it to be. If you go one way you can strip Germany of any
ability to produce anything, or you could do it so they could
produce twi ce what they did in 1938. Now, where do we stand?"
To ny anmazenent, nobody had t hought about it. One of the good
t hi ngs that happened was that the whol e Potsdam agreenent was
ignored shortly afterward.

We had the first neeting of the team and we each brought a
translator with us. | think they had given ne a French-English
transl ator, and the Russian-English translator was a British
woman who spoke only British-English. There was a great problem
w th her understanding ny southern accent. [laughter] W
convened, we tal ked, we planned, and we broke up saying, "Wl
nmeet in the norning and start on our trip" to the first factory.
That evening | got a phone call saying, "lInstead of |eaving on
the trip, we will convene again in the headquarters."

Just before the first meeting broke up, | had been
requested to ask the Russians to have their people be in
uni form because on previous trips the Germans had not treated
the Russian people in civilian clothes respectfully, and they
had been unhappy about it. | nmade what seened |like a sinple
request, that the Russians be in uniform Everybody who showed
up at that first neeting was in uniform \Wen we convened again
a new set of Russians showed up, incensed that we objected to
the Russians coming in civilian clothes. W spent about two or
three hours trying to explain that we really didn't care al
t hat nuch about it. W just thought it would be nore
confortable if they were in uniform W broke up again with the
same plan to | eave the next norning, and the sanme thing
happened. W reconvened and a third set of Russians showed up.
I never saw the sanme Russians twice in arow. By the fourth day
it was obvious that this thing wasn't going to go anywhere
anyway, so | pulled out of it. | learned |ater that they got a
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guy who ran a canni ng plant sonewhere to be the first cheni ca
expert. They wote a report that nobody ever |ooked at because
everybody forgot about the Potsdam agreenent as soon as things
started getting hostile with Russia. That was ny one session
wi th being a diplomat.

BOHNI NG | have sonme questions about the dates. You cane back

fromGermany in |late 1946, and you were at Freeport for severa
nore years after that.

CAIN: Yes, | was there in 1947 and 1948.

BOHNI NG You said they weren't buying your reconmendations in
t he petrochem cal area.

CAIN. No, but | spent a lot of time putting together a |ot of
very interesting things.

BOHNI NG Do you think that had any influence on what cane nuch
later in your life?

CAIN. It nust have, because at that point | knew nothing about
t he petrochem cal business. Everything |I'd done had been in
m neral s, sulfur and pharmaceuticals. | got very interested in

petrochenmi cals and at | east had a good academ ¢ under st andi ng of
it.

BOHNI NG There are two nore patents. The one with you and
Chatel ain was dated 1952 (5), and you were no | onger with
Freeport in 1952.

CAIN. This was done well before that. It was just slow getting
t hr ough.

BOHNI NG  That was probably part of the war tine backl og.

CAIN:  Yes, probably.

BOHNING It had to do with sodi um cyani de.

CAIN: Yes. |'ve forgotten why, but we ran a HCN pilot plant.
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BOHNING Real ly?

CAIN:  You make HCN nuch like you nmake nitric acid, with

met hane, ammonia, and air. W ran this for quite a long tineg,
and we devel oped a perfectly good HCN process. O her people had
done it, but the technology wasn't readily available. W
recollection is that this was in anticipation of sonething that
happened nore recently, the use of sodiumcyanide in gold

| eaching. | think that's what notivated them At |east at that
point, there appeared to be a shortage of sodium cyani de for
gold |l eaching, and Freeport was still fiddling around in
different mneral activities.

BOHNI NG There was anot her one on saline water treatnment to
decrease scal e-form ng properties (6).

CAIN. This was also an interesting one. W used the bl eed
water. There was no pressure to reuse the water. Rather, we
were | ooking for the heat. |If you exchange heat in a norna
tube thing, it scales up badly. | had the idea of using a heat
punp to take the steam off of the hot bleed water, conpress it
up to a high tenperature, and inject it in the formati on water.
Thi s was what that patent was.

BOHNING Did Freeport reward you in ternms of the patents you
acquired for thenf?

CAI N: | don't think so. No. | don't think that was the
cust om

BOHNI NG  You left Freeport in 1949.

CAI N: Yes.

BOHNI NG  Why did you | eave?

CAIN. The story is interesting. | was tal king to Langborne

Wl lianms, president of Freeport, telling himl was getting very
fed up witing reports that nobody did anything about. He got a
phone call from Jock Wi tney, who was the chairnman of the board
of Freeport. Jock was the father of the venture capital
business in this country. J. H Witney and Conpany was one of
the early venture capitalists. Jock told Langborne WIIlians
that he had nade a venture capital investnent in a conpany that
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was in trouble, and he needed an engineer to look at it and help
get it straightened out. Sight unseen, w thout know ng what it
was, | took the job. | was getting fed up with what | was
doing. The job turned out to be in California, in Pasadena. An
i nventor had sold themon the idea of making wall board out of
waste newsprint and a mneral called perlite, a very |ightweight
aggregate material. Perlite is a volcanic glass that has sone
water--1'mnot sure whether it's trapped nechanically or
chemcally--and if you heat it at the right rate, you can soften
it and expand the water at the sanme tinme and blow it up into
something like puffed rice. You make a |ightweight aggregate
which is now used fairly commonly, particularly in plaster.

This inventor had a furnace for expanding perlite and a
process under which he was going to pul p waste newspapers and
make it into a wall board. At that tinme and as far as | know
still, the noderate priced construction in southern California
was built by putting up a frane, then putting conposition board
on the frame, putting chicken wire over that, and then putting
stucco over it. At that point, building board was scarce and
was selling at a very high price.

There were three things wong with the project. One was
that this high price was the result of the wartine shortage, and
even though it was 1949, they still hadn't built enough capacity
to take care of the shortage. About the tinme I arrived on the
scene, the shortage was over and the price of board went down to
the point that the process had no econom c advantage. |In
addition, there were all sorts of technol ogi cal problens, anong
them that the furnace wore out after two or three days of
operation. Production of this wall board required a | ong dryer,
and they ordered a dryer for it. They had designed a plant,
ordered the dryer, and bought a site, but the | ongest dinension
on the site was shorter than the length of the dryer. | spent
nost of ny time canceling orders and negotiating cancellation
settl ements.

Then | tried to sal vage sonething fromthe perlite project.
At that point there was a need for fireproof doors of the kind
that you use in hotels and public buildings. These were
fireproof doors with wood paneling, and that required a
fireproof core material. | got the idea that if you substituted
asbestos for the newsprint, we mght nmake a fireproof door. |
spent about six or eight nonths devel opi ng such a board. | was
successful, and we sold it over to U S. Plywod, who has since
di sappeared fromthe scene. 1've forgotten who bought them

Then, wth Witney's perm ssion, | went into business
maki ng aggregate nyself. But it becane obvious that | would
never make much noney out of it because this is inherently a
smal | business. You don't ship a five-pound-per-cubic-foot
material a long way. It was obvious that this business would
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develop in a lot of small plants attached to sand and gravel
busi nesses and not as stand-al one operations. So | had to start
over at the age of forty-two or so.

BOHNING There is a period from 1950 to 1951 when you are
listed as consul tant.

CAIN. Yes. That was when | was trying to nake this perlite
busi ness go.

BOHNI NG What brought you to the point of saying, "I'd like to
have ny own busi ness"?

CAIN. | don't know. |If I'd never gone through this perlite
busi ness, | probably woul d never have had ny own business. Once
| did that, | decided | had to try again before I quit

completely. The fact that | failed left me with a need to
succeed.

BOHNI NG Your career at that point had been quite varied, but
it was still pretty nuch engi neering oriented.

CAI N: Yes.

BOHNI NG When you got to the perlite conpany, it sounds like
you had sonme nanagenent responsibilities as well as technical
responsibilities.

CAIN. The pronoters of the thing di sappeared fromthe scene
after a few nonths, and it was my job fromthere on. That's
when | decided that at sone point | wanted to do sonething on ny
own.

BOHNI NG You were really then noving away froma totally
techni cal applicati on.

CAIN. Yes. This started when | was in the Arny. | decided
that if | was going to be in the war | should be in the big show
and not a sideshow. That's when | decided not take any
engi neering jobs. When | got out of the Arny, |1'd been away
fromengineering for four years, and I was not disposed to go
back to graduate school or study hard to get caught back up
agai n.
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BOHNI NG  When this conpany failed in California in 1951, how
did you go about | ooking for your next venture?

CAIN. | cane back to New York, and | had to find a job. MW
relations with Freeport were still good, and they let nme be a
consultant for them They just nade a place for ne. | decided

I didn't want to go back to work there because | was sure that
the work woul d be the sanme as before. They nmade a place for ne

and paid ne while |I |ooked for another job. A couple of things
happened in the course of this, and one of them | haven't
t hought about until now. Sonebody offered ne a job. It was a

conmpany that has since disappeared, the old Wandotte Chemn ca
Conmpany. They insisted | go through three days of psychol ogica
testing, which was a fascinating three days. It was the nost

t horough thing I have ever been through, and they cane back with
a very interesting report. First, they said | should be a

sal esman, and | never thought of selling anything in nmy life.
In fact, | was fairly convinced | couldn't sell anything. They
also said | didn't want the job. | didn't realize it, but by
that tine | had already decided nyself that | didn't want the
job, which left me with a great deal of respect for the
psychol ogi cal testing peopl e.

| took a job at FMC doing just what | had been doi ng at
Freeport, but | was convinced that they would do sonet hi ng about
it. | really started out as an entry |l evel analyst and had
wor ked about a year on niscell aneous projects. At that point,
FMC was run by a man naned Paul Davies, who was a very
aggressi ve acquirer of businesses.

I lived in New York, and | usually walked to work. | would
frequently have breakfast in the Schrafts in the basenment of the
Chrysler Building where the office was. At that point, one of
the directors of FMC was a nman naned Jan Oosterneyer, and Jan
Qosterneyer had just retired as President of Shell Chemcal. He
was a Dut chman.

[END OF TAPE, SIDE 3]

CAIN. W didn't neet by pre-arrangenent, but we accidentally
met there and had breakfast together occasionally. One norning
we nmet and had breakfast together and were reading the Wll
Street Journal in which there was an announcenent that the
governnment was going to sell the synthetic rubber plants. By an
act of Congress they had set up the Synthetic Rubber Pl ant

Comm ssion, and they had appointed three well-known civilians to
run it and borrowed people fromall the other agencies. W read
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about the sale and decided that if we wanted to go into a new
busi ness, here it is, and we shoul d bid.

W | ooked down the list, and there were good reasons not to
bid on nost of the plants because they were run by Exxon,
Goodyear, or Firestone, and we felt that there was no point in
bi ddi ng agai nst them There was a bi g butadi ene plant that was
being run by Sinclair Gl. Sinclair has since been acquired by
Arco, but at that point Sinclair was not an aggressive
operation. W thought that if we had a chance to get any of
these, the Sinclair plant was the one. W put in a bid know ng
that the bid didn't mean anything. It was just the beginning of
a long negotiation process. W bid $8 million because that was
a nunber we thought was respectabl e but not enough that they'd
give it to us.

This started a | ong negotiation process with what they
call ed the Rubber Reserve Conmm ssion. | think that the
contracts | negotiated set the pattern for the others, because
our deal got in front of the others. This was al nbst a six- or
ei ght-nmonth exercise. | spent half ny tinme in Washi ngton

At that point |I'd never seen a butadiene plant. | think
had to go to the handbook in order to find out what it was and
how you nade it, but you learn as tine goes on. W were the
successful bidder. Paul Davies of FMC was pretty nuch of a one-
man show. I n Houston, Gardner Synonds ran Tennessee Gas, which
is now Tenneco. Paul and Gardner had grown up together and had
gone to the Harvard Busi ness School together and were close
friends. They decided that they would make this a joint venture
bet ween FMC and Tenneco. W had a neeting in Washington to set
up the joint venture the same day we closed the deal. They had
a long discussion about how we were going to operate. | nade a
note at the tine that I found a long tine later, that neither of
t hem under st ood what the other one was saying. The venture
started out w thout a good understandi ng between the principals.

W set up a separate organi zation for Petro-Tex. | went
down to represent FMC. Tenneco put a man in, and they retained
a guy naned Joe Mares, who had been a Monsanto Vice President,
to be the managi ng director or chairnman, but he was relatively
inactive. Wthin six nonths after we started operation, the
busi ness just took off. The rubber business picked up to a
degree that nobody ever expected. W started making a potful of
noney. The two principles, Davies and Synonds, had a falling
out, and they never spoke to each other again. They both died
not speaking to each other.

They fell out over a very interesting thing that made no
sense at all. W put in a Houdry dehydrogenation unit. Butane
was a feedstock, and at that tine the only use for butane was to
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put it in gasoline in the wintertine to increase the vapor
pressure; you didn't need it in the sumertine. There was a big

mar ket for butane in the winter, none in the sumrer. It wasn't
a desirable honme heating fuel, because propane was better.
But ane would sell for two or three cents in the sumertine. It

m ght sell for ten cents in the winter. Tenneco put in a butane
recovery unit and was selling us butane, and we were payi ng them
six cents a gallon for it, which was a reasonabl e year-round
price. Then Paul ran into sonmeone he knew in the oil business
and asked hi mwhat the price of butane was, and he said, "Three
cents." That was the summertine. Paul was paying six cents.
That led to a discussion where both of them said things for

whi ch they never forgave each other.

| stayed at Petro-Tex a long tine. It was a very
successful operation, but it clearly wasn't goi ng anywhere
because the two owners didn't get al ong.

BOHANI NG That started in 1955.

CAIN. Yes. It was a nine-year period that | stayed at Petro-
Tex.

BOHNING Prior to that, from 1951 to 1955, you were with FMC
Is that right?

CAIN. M guess is that it was closer to 1952 that | went to
FMC, but I'mnot sure. | was wth FMC | ooking for things for
them At least a year of that | spent on petrochem cals.

BOHNI NG That's a |ong nine year period.

CAIN. It is. In hindsight |I probably shouldn't have stayed
there that | ong because it was a dead end kind of thing; both
FMC and Tenneco went their own way. | nmarried late in life,
when | was forty-three, and | was happily married. W were
confortable in Houston. Nobody was bothering nme nmuch at Petro-
Tex.

In the course of this | made two trips to India to work on
an I ndian synthetic rubber plant. This turned out to be
i nteresting because, as you probably know, butadiene is nmade by
dehydrogenati ng butane or is a by-product of ethylene cracking.
During Wrld War 11, soneone devel oped a process of making
but adi ene from ethanol. Are you an organic chem st?
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BOHNI NG Yes.

CAIN.  You convert ethanol to acetal dehyde, condense the
acet al dehyde into a four carbon chain and then dehydrogenate it.
A plant was built in Louisville, Kentucky, to make butadi ene
fromalcohol. It ran and nmade butadi ene during the war. The

I ndi ans deci ded they wanted a synthetic rubber business, and
they invited Goodyear over to talk to them Since Goodyear was
our main customer, they asked ne to go with them | went with
them as the butadi ene expert on this trip.

We spent a nonth in New Del hi and other places. |'ve never
run across any group of people who knew as little and thought
t hey knew as nuch as the Indian bureaucrats with whomwe had to
deal. They were telling ne all about how to nmake but adi ene.
They were determ ned to nmake butadi ene from al cohol up in
northern India in a tow called Barelli. W went to Barelli,
and saw the site. That's where | saw the sul fur burner that I
had invented in the sugar mlIl there. It was obvious that this
was the wong place to build a butadiene plant. It was the
wong raw material, the wong process, the wong everything.
The Goodyear representative there was the son of one of
[Jawaharl al] Nehru's close friends, so in the course of it | got
to neet Nehru several tines.

We went back six nonths |ater and spent another nonth
there. This tine we decided not to fool with it because the
whol e thing was so badly conceived. Firestone got involved in
it and built the plant and ran it for five years or so and
finally shut it down because it was in the wong place with the
wong process. | should have | eft Petro-Tex sooner, but | was
happy at home, | was not under any pressure, and | m ght have
stayed there and coast ed.

In 1964, Conoco was al so headquartered in Houston. The nman
who had been running their chem cal business died suddenly of
cancer and left themw th no apparent successor. W shared a
consul t ant nanmed Her man Neui nhaus, who worked for both Petro-Tex
and Conoco. | don't know if you've run across anything about
hi m
BOHNI NG  No, | haven't.

CAIN. Herman was a former Shell enployee, a Dutchman who had a
very successful consulting business in New York, mainly bringing

Eur opean technology to Anerica and vice versa. He is the one
who made the connection between nme and Conoco.
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Conoco was run by a man naned Leonard McCol | um who was very
much of an entrepreneur. W nmet and got along fine. | went to
work for them and stayed there for six years. Wen | went
there, their chem cal business was losing a few mllion dollars
a year. Wwen | left the profits were nore than the sales were
when | got there. W bought a vinyl chloride, PVC, business,
built a VCM plant, and built an ethylene plant. W devel oped an
operation in Germany, one in Spain, and one in Japan. It was
really quite an interesting operation.

BOHNI NG You were managi ng the chem cal operations?

CAIN. | was running this business. Then in 1968 ny w fe died
of cancer after about a two-year illness. M. Mac retired and

t he accountant types took over. | decided that | would do what

| had planned to do, and in the mddle of 1970 | left. | left

wi thout any particular plans. | left on good ternms with
everybody, but | just decided it was tinme for ne to nove on, and
| came back to Houston.

The first thing that happened after | announced | was
| eavi ng was that one of ny investnent banker friends called and
said, "We invested in a conpany that's having trouble. WII you
come and | ook after it for a while while you are decidi ng what
to do?" That started a six-year career of |ooking after five
hi gh-technol ogy busi nesses. There was a collision avoi dance
devi ce for ships, a gas chronmatograph conpany, a conputer
control conpany, a radioactive chem cal business, and a conpany
that nade test gear for the Air Force.

BOHNI NG  The 1975 Standard and Poor's Register (7) lists you as
chai rman of Atec.

CAIN. Atec was one of the conpanies. They nade the
instrunentation that the Air Force uses when they test engines.

BOHNI NG  There was Conputer Application Technol ogy.

CAI N: Yes.

BOHANI NG Then | otron.
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CAIN: lotron. That was the collision avoi dance device for
shi ps. Those have been acquired by other people. Atec is still
running as a separate conpany and is noderately successful.

BOHNING At this point you are now getting away fromthe
chem cal busi ness.

CAIN. | spent six years out of the chem cal business, which in
hi ndsi ght probably was a good thing, because when |I went back
into it |I had a fresh point of view The owners of Petro-Tex
didn't get along and the conpany slowy went downhill, nmainly
because nobody was meki ng any decisions. Sonething had to be
done about it, and they got together and asked ne to cone and
run it. | agreed torun it if | got a free hand. The deal was
that | would tell themwhat | was going to do, they woul d have
ten days or two weeks to tell nme no, but if nobody said anything
| did whatever | planned to do.

At that point Petro-Tex was losing a | ot of nmoney. The
idea at the tine was to convert it into a storage facility and
sal vage sone noney. It owed thirty-five mllion dollars. It
was making eight hundred mllion pounds of butadi ene and | osing
nmoney for the very sinple reason that there was a | ot of by-
product butadi ene com ng on the market. They nmade nore
but adi ene, and the nore butadi ene they nade, the nore they woul d
drive the price down and the nore they would | ose. They were
digging their own grave. The first thing | did was to shut down
seven hundred mllion pounds of this capacity, and we went from
| osi ng noney neki ng ei ght hundred mllion to maki ng noney meaki ng
a hundred mllion. Shutting down nade the price go back up.

They had gotten into the neoprene rubber business, and we
sold that to Denka, a Japanese conpany, and paid off all the
debt. At the end of two years Petro-Tex was doing well, and
Tenneco bought FMC out. They wanted nme to stay and run it, but
| didn't want to be a Tenneco enpl oyee.

Al nost simul taneously, the state of Al aska announced t hat
they were going to offer their royalty crude to anyone who woul d
build a refinery/petrochem cal plant in Al aska. The decision on
who woul d get the award woul d be based on who woul d do the nost
for the Al askan econony; that is, who would create the nost
jobs? A conpany in Houston called Al aska Interstate had an
operation in Alaska that distributed gas in Anchorage in
sout hern Al aska. A dozen people bid, including Al aska
Interstate. The chief counsel of Al aska Interstate was a good
friend and the chief financial officer was also a friend, and
some of the directors were friends. They would occasionally
call nme and ask ne what | thought about the Al aska project. The
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man who was running this project for themdi ed suddenly of a
heart attack, and they asked me to cone in and hold it together,
which | did, and then | got interested in it and agreed to stay.

The governor had to choose the group, and the state

| egislature had to ratify his choice. | agreed to stay through
the state legislature ratification, and they agreed to pay ne a
substantial bonus if |I did. | did, and I had sonme fascinating

experiences. Alaska is a great place. If | were young | would

go there and stay.

Dealing with the Al aska legislature is just |like dealing

with small town courthouse politics. |In the course of tinme the
governor chose us, but we had to get approved by the
| egislature. The ternms of the bill were such that if they

didn't approve it at this session the whole thing would | apse
and we would have to start all over. W got down to the |ast
day of the |egislature.

The senate ratified it but the house was still screw ng
around, and the nenbers started going hone in anticipation of
adjournnent. W sent a plane to Fairbanks to bring two
representatives back, and they wouldn't speak to each other. W
had to send another plane. Qur |awer, a very bright woman who
is nowthe wife of Ted Stevens, the senator from Al aska, went on
a plane to the Juneau airport and persuaded an Eskino | egislator
with his wife and nother-in-law and all their house plants to
come back and vote. W had one of our supporters in the Red Dog
Sal oon who got in such a state that when he voted he pushed the
wong button and voted against us. But we got it done. Then
Al aska Interstate decided to sell this project to a conpany
called Charter G|, which was a high pronotion operation in
Florida. | didn't want to get involved with them so | pulled
out and started thinking about what to do.

| decided the next thing for ne to do was to buy a nmedi um
si zed chem cal operation and spend ny | ast years |ooking after

it insem-retirement. | started on this, and | tried three or
four or five things. @ilf Q1 had acquired a conpany called
Har shaw Chem cal s, about as illogical an acquisition as has ever

been made in history. Harshaw was a catal yst maker in the

i norgani ¢ chem cal business. This happened a nunber of years
before, but by the early 1980s Gulf decided they wanted to sel
it. | tried to buy it, and a dozen other people tried to buy
it. @lf consistently asked for about twenty-five percent nore
than it was worth, and then a year |ater they would cone back
and offer it at a |ower price, but still too high. Finally they
merged it with Filtrol and got essentially nothing for it. |
tried to buy a chem cal business that Tenneco had that nade

pl acticizers that Hoechst | ater bought.
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The closest | canme was to try to buy the Conoco carbon

bl ack business and the Phillips carbon black busi ness and
conbi ne them There were enough savings in research and
overhead to pay for doing it. | got the thing all together and
| had a deal signed with Conoco, and then Phillips backed out at

the last m nute because they would be required to show a | oss
because the price was | ess than book value. Wen this cane
unglued, | decided "Let's quit fooling with these small things."
| decided to try to buy the chem cal business that DuPont bought
when t hey bought Conoco.

To back up a mnute, on this A aska deal we had two bankers
hel ping us. One was Lehnman Brothers and one was E. F. Hutton.
At that point E. F. Hutton was not a powerhouse in the financial
busi ness, but the man they had on the job was exceptional. He
was much smarter than the Lehnman people, and so we got to be
friends. Wen | started |ooking for sonmething to buy, |
enlisted himto help ne raise noney. | knew the DuPont people,
but I knewif | walked in off the street they wouldn't take ne
very seriously unless | had a partner of sone substance.

To digress just a mnute, one of the things we had in
Conoco was a fourth interest in a conpany called PASA in
Argentina, which at one point was the biggest petrocheni cal
operation south of the equator. It made ethyl ene, ethyl benzene,
styrene, butadi ene and synthetic rubber. It had probl ens
because it was poorly financed. Wen | got ready to | eave,
nobody in Conoco wanted to be responsible for it because they

were afraid it would fold up. | nade a deal with Conoco to
continue to represent themin Argentina. | went to Argentina
every six or eight nonths for twenty years. It also kept nme in

touch wth the chem cal people, so | knew pretty nmuch what was
goi ng on.

| decided to take a crack at buying the chem cal business
fromDuPont. The man at Hutton that they assigned to work with
me was nanmed Cl arke Anbrose, and his personal |awer was Joe
Flom who is the dean of the acquisition |awers in the U S.
The fornmer chairman of DuPont, Irv Shapiro, had just joined Joe
Floms firm M friend at EE F. Hutton went to Joe Fl om and
told himwhat he wanted to do and he got Shapiro to set up a
nmeeting for us with DuPont. Shapiro was never invol ved again.
That's when the formation of Vista Chemical started. Cur
neeting was wi th Bob Ri chardson, who was on the DuPont executive
commttee. He was very polite and told us that they would
consi der selling the Conoco chem cal business. They would not
have an auction. They woul d have one ot her conpany nmake them a
conpetitive offer.

[END OF TAPE, SIDE 4]
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CAIN. DuPont is a great conpany but they're not noted for speed.
Things noved fairly slowly. W would ask for information, and it
woul d be weeks before we would get it back. Then it wouldn't be
qui te what we wanted, and we woul d ask again. W started about
Sept enber or Cctober of 1982. In June of 1983 DuPont said we had
to make an offer. W made an offer at the tinme, and after a
little fiddling around they accepted it. W offered six hundred
mllion dollars for the business subject to adjustnents,
inventory, and all sorts of things |ike that. But this was al
verbal, and we spent three nonths witing a fairly sinple letter
of intent. W signed the letter of intent in Cctober of 1983.

Up to that tine they hadn't let us talk to the managenent.
At this point they let us talk to the managenent. W had a mmj or
problemin that there were all sorts of ties between the Lake
Charles refinery and the Lake Charl es petrochem cal conpl ex.
They used joint barge-loading facilities, and the steam and power
systens were intertwi ned. W took kerosene fromthe refinery,
extracted the straight-chain hydrocarbon and sent the raffinate
back to the refinery. There were over thirty contracts that had
to be worked out. | decided that the thing to do was to let the
managenent work this out.

On the norning of the first of Novenber | was jogging up on
the roof, and | felt sone sharp pains in ny chest. | would slow
down and it would go away, and I would speed up and it would cone
back. Two days later | was having open-heart surgery. Wen
started recovering, | would check on the phone to see what was
going on, and it was obvious nothing was going on. The
managenent and the refinery people couldn't get along, and they
couldn't settle anything because they had been fighting with each
other over this sort of thing for a long time. This was the
first time the refinery people had the ability to be difficult,
and our managenent was probably difficult. The first time | was
able to travel was right after Christmas. W went to WI m ngton,
and DuPont said, "If you don't get this all settled within thirty
days, we're going to pull out." | made a deal for themto assign
some seni or people to negotiate, because we had been dealing wth
too lowlevel people. A nonth later, we hadn't finished, but
we'd gone so far that they were happy.

Then we started having problens in another area. The banks
had agreed to put up part of the noney. The Prudential |nsurance
Conmpany and a group of insurance conpanies agreed to put up the
subordi nated debt. Everything seened to be noving al ong very
well. Sone tinme about February or March the Federal Reserve
wote a letter to all banks asking for a report on the high-
| everaged transactions. Sonme banks just regarded it as a request
for information. Qhers decided the sky was falling and ran for
cover. Qur |ead banks were Manufacturer's Hanover and Banker's
Trust.
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DuPont woul d check with Prudential and the banks every two
or three weeks to see if everything was in order. Good Friday
norning they called the banks and everything was in order. That
afternoon, Banker's Trust called and said they were pulling out
of the deal, and everything folded up. W would have been dead
in the water and the thing would have fallen apart, except that
DuPont decided to help. This deal was not that inportant to
them but they didn't want to waste all this tinme and get
not hi ng done. They put out the word anong the banks that DuPont
wanted this thing to go through. They signed a piece of paper
that said "CGuarantee" at the top, and DuPont signed it at the
bottom and the | awers wote practically nothing in between.

It guaranteed sone of our debt to a limted extent under sone
unusual circunstances, but the inportant thing was that DuPont
indicated to the financial community that they wanted this deal
to go. CQur bankers got together, and fromthen it was just a
matter of putting together the legal things. W got it closed
in July. That started Vista Chem cal

Al ong the way, | decided that doing deals like this was
nore fun that running a chem cal conpany. | had run across a
young man who was bri ght and abl e and had been doing nergers and
acquisitions for a local firm The principal of the firmhad a
heart attack and had to give up the business. He asked ne to
help himtake it over, and | did. He has done LBO s [I|everaged
buyouts] separately fromne, of smaller, non-chem cal things.

Sone tine in the fall of 1985, when | was chai rnman of the

board of Vista, | heard that the Monsanto Texas City plant was
for sale. | called Monsanto and found that they were already
talking to dozens of people about buying it, including Anbco and
Standard of Chio. | got all the data and nade an offer.

At this time | had outgrown Hutton, and they were having
trouble internally. People with whom| had worked had noved on
to other things, so | went forward on ny own, and found that
rai sing noney wasn't a big job. The Texas City plant made
acetic acid, acrylonitrile, styrene, plasticizers and a few odds
and ends. The key to getting financing was a contract to buy
sone of the output. Nobody wanted to sign a styrene or
acrylonitrile contract, but the idea occurred to us that BP
[British Petroleunm was big in acetic acid everywhere but in the
United States. They might want to get in the acetic acid
busi ness here. W approached them and very qui ckly nmade a deal
under which they underwote part of the financing in return for
us effectively turning the acetic acid business over to them
That let us finance Sterling Chem cal.
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BOHNING |'ve read sonmewhere that in these LBOs, certainly in
the period that we are tal king about, there was a | ot of activity
in all areas, but Vista was the first one in the chem cal

i ndustry.

CAI N: Yes.

BOHNI NG Part of an LBO as | understand it, is that you end up
selling off part of the assets, and you didn't do that.

CAIN | didn't do that, and that's not a necessary part of it. A
| ot of people did that, but that just wasn't ny style. The other
thing we consistently did was not cut anybody's wages and not cut
benefits. W conmmt right up front that we're going to nmaintain
t he same wages and benefits. 1've been lucky in that, except for
Vista, in all of the subsequent things |I did, the seller didn't
want to sell anything but the assets. They did not want to turn
| oose any staff except plant nmanagers and below. | did not have
any requirenents to take upper |evel staff, which nmade things
very easy. W've consistently run with about a third or fourth

t he overhead the predecessors ran with, and run better.

Sterling Chem cal had not nmade any noney for a nunber of
years, and if we hadn't nmade the BP contract, we woul d have
never financed it. Wth the BP contract, we were able to
finance it. The styrene business turned around within two or
three nonths after we closed the deal, and the prices went up
In 1987, one year l|ater, we were out of debt and declared a big
di vi dend, and then we went public, which was a m stake. This is
too cyclic a business to be a public conpany.

We put in stock option plans, but in addition I wanted them
to be at risk. We insisted that all the key people buy stock. |
wanted themto have not just a win-win situation, but one where
if things went bad they had to buckle down and help. W put in
ESOP' s, Enpl oyee Stock Omership Plans. | would say that in the
four big very successful deals that |1've done, every key man, and
by this I nean people earning fromsixty thousand up, i s now a
mllionaire. The enployees get fromthe ESOP fromthree to five
times their annual salary.

The chem cal business is a gossipy business and everybody
knew that the owners of the ethylene plant in Corpus Christi,
Sol vay, Union Pacific and ICl, were not happy with it. They
hired Jack St. dair, who was a forner president of Shel
Chem cal, to sell it for them although they woul d never admt
they were selling it. Jack told nme that they had financed with
borrowed noney whi ch was guaranteed by the parents. They were
not maki ng enough noney to pay off the | oans; the owners were

33



payi ng off the | oans. They were determ ned not to sell it for

| ess than the unpaid bal ance of the loan. It wasn't worth that.
| first talked to Jack about this around 1982 or 1983. About
once a year |1'd check with him and the | oan had gone down, but
was still nmore than the value of the plant. About 1986, the | oan
had gone down to the point where | thought the plant was
probably worth it. | set out to buy it, and | started
negotiating with him On these things, you try not to get too
far ahead of whoever is going to supply the noney. | talked to
Chase, who | thought would finance it. They said, "Maybe you can
convince us that the ethylene business is going to turn around,
but we won't finance a one-plant, one-product operation. Go find
somet hi ng el se.”

| started | ooking around, and | call ed DuPont about half of
a glycol plant they owned. They said, "lIt's for sale, but we're
much nore interested in talking to you about three polyethyl ene
pl ants and an ethylene plant." | started tal king to DuPont about
that, started talking to PPG about the other half of the glycol
plant, to ICl about their glycol plant. M only failure was that
I was not successful in buying the DuPont half of the glycol
pl ant because it was in a different group at DuPont, and I
couldn't make a deal with them W put together seven ethyl ene-
related plants into sonmething called Cain Chemcal, and we did it
just as the ethylene business was turning around. The first
nmonth this Corpus Christi plant ever nmade noney was the nonth we
bought it. It was just blind luck. | had to convince banks,
t hough, that this was going to happen

BOHNI NG The early test that you tal ked about before that said
you woul d be a good sal esman--it nust have been pretty accurate
because of your ability to do just what you' ve said

CAIN The key to selling was to sell people. Cain Chem cal just
took off like a rocket. W took a few | owlevel overhead people,
but Bill MM nn who had been at FMC was the president. W got a
man from Car bi de, John Luchsinger, to run the pol yethyl ene
business. A man that | worked with at Petro-Tex, Russell Bowers,
ran the hydrocarbon part of the business. W persuaded a fairly
hi gh-1 evel treasurer to |l eave Arco and join us as financi al
officer. Wen we put Sterling Chem cal together there was a
bright young | awer who was very successful in one of the |aw
firms here. He didn't work on ny deal, but he wanted to | eave
the law and go into business. He left and joined Sterling

Chem cal as the chief counsel and vice president of everything

t hat nobody el se was doing. | did the same thing at Cain

Chem cal and the sanme thing at Fiber Industries. | staffed these
peopl e from outside, but they were nostly people | had sone tie
to or knew sonething about.
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Cain Chem cal was doing so well we started to think about
going public. In the beginning we got studies of what it is
worth to go public. The Nalco Conpany has for a long tine had a
quai | hunt every year, to which they invite people fromthe
chem cal industry. | have gone for nunber of years and |I'm going
this Thursday. On a conparable Thursday in 1988, | went on it,
and one of the people there was Dal e Lawence of Cccidental. He
told ne Cccidental wanted to buy Cain Chem cal and offered eight

hundred million dollars for it. | laughed at him He went away
and about six weeks later they called back and offered us a
billion two hundred mllion for the equity. After a very short

di scussion, we nmade a deal. W transferred the noney five weeks
| ater, which was al nost a record. This conpany that we'd started
and put twenty-seven mllion dollars of equity into sold for a
billion two in |less than a year.

BOHNING In that short period of tinme, you were able to acquire
t hese conpani es because the big conpani es were getting out of
comodi ties and | ooking for specialties.

CAIN That's right.
BOHNI NG  They were | ooking for a faster profit.
CAIN:  Yes.

BOHNING Al of a sudden, these becane avail able and then the
mar ket turned around after you acquired them What was it that
Ccci dental saw that nade them nake an offer of that magnitude?

CAIN Since these are fairly bright people, | think that first
of all they were confident that they could pay for it before the
boom was over. Second, it fit into their overall schene of
things. Cccidental had never been |ike sone of the other

chem cal conpanies; it has been a commodity operation. Even in
the oil business, they haven't done nuch upgrading. It fit in
the Cccidental pattern, and they were confident the boom woul d

| ast |1 ong enough that they would get their noney back, and they
did. It worked very well. They are happy with the deal.

BOHNI NG One of the other things that |'ve noticed is that you
have i nvol ved enpl oyee owner shi p.

CAI N: | have.
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BOHNING This is for a nunber of reasons--it gives you a nore
dedi cat ed enpl oyee, and nore efficiency in your operation. |

al so read that when you sold Cain Chem cal, you personally
weren't convinced, but it was for the welfare of your enpl oyees
and their benefit that you nmade that sale

CAIN. | think that's essentially true, because at that point |
had enough noney that noney was not a factor anynore. Here is
something that I'd put together. | was running it differently
than the way other people would run it, and it was a great
tenptation to see if this would really go forward. Sitting
around the table with ne were Bill MM nn, John Luchsi nger and
others. Essentially everything they had was in this business.
| couldn't bring nyself to put themat risk by insisting that
they not cash in at this point. | would have |oved to have kept
it, but it just didn't nmake any sense for nme to keep them from
cashing in.

BOHNI NG There are a nunber of reasons why your LBOs were
successful. W' ve tal ked about enpl oyee ownershi p, we've tal ked
about not havi ng upper |evel managenent that you had to bring

al ong, which gave you nore flexibility and you could cut off sone
of those layers. Another reason was supply contacts with mgjor
conmpani es so you didn't have to have a big sales force.

CAIN Yes. Wen we took over the pol yethyl ene business, DuPont
had a thirty-man sales force. W had a three-nan sales force
because we decided in the beginning that there were a | ot of
smal | accounts that were just not worth fooling with. W've done
the same thing with Sterling Chemcal. W had a | ot of what you
woul d call processing agreenents. |If Phillips, for exanple,
wants styrene, we'll take their benzene and ethyl ene; we're doing
t he same nmaki ng styrene for Monsanto. Probably a third of our
styrene business is on processing contacts, and this has several
advantages. You don't need a |lot of salesnmen, and the other big
advantage is that you don't have any working capital tied up. In
this sort of thing you get very conscious of noney and capital
One of the things we've done consistently is operate at nuch

| ower inventories than any of our predecessors did, which neans
we use that noney to pay off debt. W ve consistently run with
fewer rail cars than they use.

When we bought Vista, the Ford Mdtor Conpany said, "In order
to sell to us you have to have a statistical quality contro
program" | thought that was a | ot of crap because we never had
a quality problem but we had to have such a program so we did.
We | ooked around, and | discovered for the first time Dr.

[Edwar ds] Deming. | don't know whether you've run across Dem ng
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or not. W got one of his disciples to cone in a give courses,
and | was sold on the whole thing. As a result, we nmade nmj or

i nprovenents in our operation. As | say, we're consistently
usi ng about twenty percent fewer rail cars than our predecessors
used. We're running at nuch | ower inventories than they did.

We operate with | ess working capital, and | think we probably
have a nore effective operation across the board, mainly because
of enpl oyee involvenent. Part of the Dem ng phil osophy is that
when you start trying to correct sonmething you don't invite the
engi neeri ng departnent, you ask the people who are doing it how
to do it better. We run very good operations.

BOHNING | think I've read that you could reduce overhead by
seventy or eighty percent sonetines.

CAIN. [I'"Il give you an exanple. This isn't too accurate, but
Monsanto was charging twenty-seven mllion dollars overhead to
the Texas Cty plant, and it was all m xed up with other
departnents. Wen we took it over we ran it with seven mllion
dol l ars overhead. Cain Chem cal had a total overhead including
R&D, and we had a fair anmount of R&D, of two percent of sales.
DuPont will have an overhead of fifteen percent of sales. These
are big nunbers

Wth fewer | evels of managenent you have better
communi cation. |If everybody is busy, nobody has tinme to worry
about protecting his turf. In the Dem ng system one of the
results of these teamefforts to nake i nprovenents is that
people start talking to each other across departnments and across
| evel s of nmanagenent.

BOHNI NG | inmagi ne you get decisions made much nore rapidly,
and people feel nore free to make a decision wthout having to
explain it to soneone

CAIN. Yes. That's right. |It's made a difference.

BOHNING Was there life after Cain Chemical ? That nust have a
been a whirlw nd couple of years for you.

CAIN: The next thing is that Cel anese nerged with Hoechst, and,
as part of the deal, they had to divest their polyester fiber
busi ness. Hoechst was calling the shots, and they decided to

di vest the Cel anese rather than the Hoechst plants. W bid on

it and were the successful bidder. Then we got into a |ong siXx-
nmont h hassle with the FTC [ Federal Trade Conm ssion] because they
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want ed Cel anese to divest different things than Cel anese want ed
to divest. The FTC junped to the conclusion that Cel anese was
di vesting the poorest plants. | did not agree. After a six-
nmont h discussion, | finally got themto approve it. W ran

Fi ber Industries for a couple of years and sold it to the
Wl | man Conpany. The equity owners got thirty-four tines what
they put in. The enpl oyees wound up with about twi ce their
annual salary fromthe ESCP

[END OF TAPE, SIDE 5]

BOHNING Is there anything specific to which you can attribute
your success in spotting these areas?

CAIN. [|'ve never really thought about it as success. A lot of
it is luck. 1 think some of it is having been out of the

busi ness | ong enough to get a detached view. One of the
surprising things was that so few people in the ethyl ene

busi ness recogni zed the turn-around in ethylene. If you |ooked
at the nunbers, it was absolutely obvious. The people in the
busi ness did not recognize this because they were too close for
too long and | ost perspective. | think getting out of the

busi ness was hel pful.

The Al aska experience was interesting for a different
reason. In the course of nergers and acquisitions, |I'd run
across a lot of investnent bankers, but | never worked with them
very closely. At least one of the things | brought away from
that was a confidence that noney could be raised if you have a
salable idea. | don't think that | had ever appreciated that,
and | suspect that a | ot of people have good ideas, but are
convinced they can't raise the noney to do it. You can if you
know how.

BOHNI NG Let ne ask the opposite question of the |ast one.
That is, have you had any failures?

CAIN. None of the LBO s that | have done personally have
failed. M partners have had sone relatively small failures.
The deal | nade when | set up the Sterling Goup was that |
woul d do these chem cal things separately, and that included
Vista, Sterling Chem cal, Cain Chem cal, Fiber Industries and
Arcadi an, which is a fertilizer business. | did have several
failures in the early 1970s before LBO s started.
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BOHNING Let nme just review a little bit then about the
Sterling Goup. You and Frank Hevrdejs started it in 1982, and
t hen sonewhere around 1987 there was a nerger w th another

conpany.

CAIN. We took another group in in 1987. W took a few
individuals in. Wen Cain Chem cal was sold, three of the
partners made enough noney that they decided to retire. W had
one woman partner who wanted to go into a different kind of

busi ness, and everybody was confortably well-off financially.
So they did, and we have now four people left.

BOHNING What is the clinmate of the 1990s conpared to the
climte of the 1980s?

CAIN. First, | think that nost of the things that people want
to sell have been sold, at |least in the business |I've been in.
Second, it is harder to raise noney than it was back in the
1980s. Third, there will be fewer deals, and you will have to
put nore equity into them which neans that the | everage won't be
as great. They won't be as profitable if they are successful,
but you will have a little nore protection against failure. In
Sterling Chem cal, because of this BP contract, we put five
mllion dollars equity in a two hundred and fifteen mllion
doll ar deal, which is under two and a half percent equity. If
sonmething like that is successful, the multiplier is just
trenendous, but you can't do that anynore. Now you have to put
in twenty or twenty-five percent equity. The big profit is
gone.

BOHNI NG Essentially, it has been the last ten years of your
l[ife in which you have really been actively involved in this.

CAIN. That's right, yes.
BOHNI NG  What holds for you now, at al nobst the age of eighty?
CAIN: [I'lIl be eighty in tw nonths.

BOHNING Do you plan to continue your activities?

CAIN. | don't know. You know, this may sound a little odd, but
at no point in ny career have | done a | ot of |ong-range
planning, and I'mstill not. I'mjust going to do what interests
me as long as it interests me. I'mnot going to sit up till
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three or four o' clock in the norning negotiating with | awers

anynore. | made two trips to Spain and back in one week in the
Vista negotiation. |'mnot going to do that sort of thing
anynore. | canme back fromFlorida this norning, and 1'll go

back Saturday and probably stay there a week or two.

BOHNING Do you still have a place in Houston?

CAIN: Yes. W have a place here and a place in North Carolina
and one in Florida. So, I'mnot working all that hard.

BOHNI NG W haven't tal ked about your famly.

CAIN. | was the oldest of six children. | have two brothers
and three sisters, all still living. One brother's a doctor,
and he is still practicing. One was an editor of a textbook
conpany, and he's retired. M sisters are married. | got

married the first time when | was forty-four. W were married
twel ve years and didn't have any children. MW wife died of

cancer in 1968. | remarried in 1972, and Mary had two children.
They are in their late thirties, early forties, and we have
three grandchildren. |1'mvery fond of the grandchil dren.

Probably a typical grandfather.

BOHNI NG  What do you do for fun? Wat do you enjoy besides
mergers and acqui sitions, which obviously have given you a great
deal of pleasure.

CAIN. | play golf. | play croquet. | do a lot of bird hunting
in the hunting season and that's how | got together with
Ccci dent al .

| can be fairly articulate on the LBO s because |'ve been
witing an account of them | amwiting this nore for ny
grandchil dren than for publication. 1've finished Vista, Cain
Chem cal and Sterling Chemcal, and I'mstarting Fi ber
I ndustries and Arcadi an.

BOHNING Is there anything else that you' d like to add at this
poi nt ?

CAIN:  Not that | can think of.
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BOHNING It's been very fascinating, and 1'd Iike to thank you
for spending the tine with ne.

CAIN.  Thank you for taking the tine to cone.

[ br eak]

CAIN. Right now we're having a problemcreating enough j obs.
The evi dence shows that the Fortune Hundred Conpanies had a
decline in enmploynment in the last ten years of two mllion jobs.
In the meantinme, there's been a net production in jobs. All of
the job production has been in the small- and nedi umsi zed
conmpani es. Big conpanies |let thensel ves get badly overstaffed
and have been losing rather than creating jobs. W have not yet
found what both the Germans and t he Japanese have found is the
way to run big conpanies effectively. W now have a situation
where the managenents of nmany big conpanies run the conpanies
essentially w thout any guidance fromthe outside because they
choose their own directors.

I think it's significant that sonme of the nost successful
bi g conpanies still have sone outside influence. For exanple,
DuPont is still very nmuch influenced by the retired DuPont
peopl e, the DuPont famly. Dowis still dom nated by a sort of
M dl and nystique. Carl [Gerstacker] is still around, and I'm sure
that he is still an influence. That is true in a |ot of
conpani es. GCeneral Mtors is probably the worst exanple of the
lot. They've gotten trapped in the bureaucracy they built up
Ten years ago they dom nated the autonobil e business, and two
nont hs ago the chai rman of General Mdtors was asking the
Japanese not to be too tough on them If nothing else, it's an
enbarrassnent to the U S business world. Sonehow we've got to
find a way to bring some sort of direction--the specialists cal
it corporate governance--into the running of |arge organizations.
This is a field in which both Ral ph [Landau] and | have been
i nterested.

BOHNING | did notice that you were involved with the Stanford
program [ Center for Econom c Policy Research].

CAI N: Yes.

BOHNI NG He spends quite a bit of his tine out there.
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CAIN:  Yes, he does. This is all involved in studying what
factors influence productivity, gromh, etc. M next activities
will involve this sort of thing. M golf gane isn't good enough
to make a career of that.

BOHNI NG Thank you agai n.

CAIN.  Thank you.

[END OF TAPE, SIDE 6]
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